The welfare effects of tax progressivity and unemployment insurance in a frictional labor market

This version: February 2017

Alessandra Pizzo *

Universidad de Chile

Abstract

A progressive tax schedule, as it is observed in many developed countries, is usually justified in terms of redistributive purposes; however, when labor markets are frictional, progressive taxation has been shown to have a beneficial effect on the unemployment rate. On the other hand, a more progressive tax schedule discourages individual labor supply and (precautionary) savings, thus potentially reducing capital accumulation and total production. In this paper, I take into account the different effects of a progressive tax and transfer schedule on unemployment, individual labor supply and savings. I consider the progressive tax and transfer schedule in combination with unemployment benefits, which are an additional way to provide public insurance against income drop during unemployment spells. Simple steady state comparisons, based on the utilitarian welfare criterion, point to the desirability of a tax and transfer schedule with a positive degree of progressivity, without calling for additional unemployment insurance: in other words, the welfare criterion calls for a progressive tax schedule combined with a negative income tax at the bottom of the asset distribution. In terms of modelling strategy, I start from the workhorse model of Krusell et al. (2010), which combines the Huggett-Aiyagari framework of heterogeneous agents with matching frictions in the labor market, and I introduce individual labor supply. I also allow for heterogeneity in productivity, as in Lifschitz et al. (2016), as well as in preferences for leisure: the model clarifies that behind the overall welfare effects there is a tension among the low and high productive individuals with respect to the effects of the different policies.

^{*}Email: ale.pizzo@gmail.com

The paper is issued from the third chapter of my PhD thesis: I am really thankful to my PhD supervisor F. Langot for all the encouragement and support. I would also like to thank Lorenzo Cerda for helping me with his programming experience and invaluable discussions, as well as all seminars participants at Banque de France, Universidad de Chile and Pontificia Universidad Catolica for all their the comments. Financial support provided by the Anillo Project 'SMAUG' (CONICYT) is gratefully acknowledged. Any omissions and mistakes are my own.

JEL Classification : J64, H2, D52, E21

Keywords: Tax progressivity, search and matching frictions, heterogeneous agents, hours, unemployment.

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	A model of frictional labor market with labor supply and progressive tax-	
	ation	6
	2.1 Labor markets	7
	2.2 The financial structure	7
	2.3 The tax and transfer schedule	8
	2.4 The households	9
	2.5 The firm	10
	2.6 Wage bargaining	12
	2.7 Government budget constraint	13
3	Calibration and quantitative results	14
	3.1 Welfare effect of tax progressivity	17
	3.1.1 The mechanisms behind the effects of tax progressivity	19
	3.2 Welfare effect of unemployment benefits (UB)	21
	3.3 General welfare comparisons: progressive tax and transfer schedule versus UB	25
4	Sensitivity analysis - WORK IN PROGRESS	27
	4.1 Labor supply elasticity	27
	4.2 When $\gamma \neq \eta$	28
5	Conclusion	28
\mathbf{A}	Some analytical insights: risk-neutral agents	33
	A.1 The effects of progressivity	33
	A.2 The effects of UB	36
в	Frisch elasticity with progressive taxation	37
С	Algorithm	38

1 Introduction

Most developed economies have redistributive fiscal system: in order to raise tax revenues, the state asks to the rich to contribute relatively more, while the poor generally receive transfers.

In a framework in which insurance markets are not complete, a progressive tax and transfer system helps in providing insurance against (labor) income shocks. However, it distorts labor and accumulation choices: if more productive agents have higher incomes, progressive taxation distorts labor supply and potentially decreases total productivity; the publicly provided insurance can induce lower savings and therefore lower accumulation of physical capital¹.

The pros and cons of progressive taxation have been analysed at length in papers featuring incomplete financial markets, as for example recently in Conesa and Krueger (2006), Heathcote et al. (2014), Bakış et al. (2015) or Heathcote and Tsujiyama (2015). However, typically these papers consider a Walrasian labor market, while the labor market literature has pointed out that progressive taxation interacts with other frictions affecting the labor market.

The effect of progressive taxation in the context of frictional labor markets has been analysed since the 1990s, within a representative agent framework²: the conclusion of this strand of literature is that, in the context of frictional labor markets, a more progressive tax schedule can decrease the rate of unemployment, through its effect on wage bargaining³.

In a framework in which the main source of labor income risk is job loss, it is important to endogeneize in the model the unemployment process: there are feedback effects between the policies providing insurance (the level of progressivity of the tax and transfer system as well the unemployment insurance) and the labor market performance, which cannot be taken into account in the literature which considers the unemployment process as exogenous.

In this paper therefore I analyse the efficiency losses and gains induced by a progressive tax and transfer system, in a framework in which the labor market is frictional and financial markets are incomplete: risk-averse agents are subject only to unemployment risk⁴, they save to insure themselves and end up with different levels of assets, due to the sequence of

¹Investment in human capital is also affected: higher progressivity can decrease the incentive in invest in education, by decreasing its return. However, in this paper I will focus on the first two aspects of labor supply and physical capital accumulation.

²Consider for example, as a non-exhaustive list, the papers by Lockwood and Manning (1993), Holmlund and Kolm (1995), Sørensen (1999), Røed and Strøm (2002). More recently, this effect has been analysed by authors including Parmentier (2006) and Hüngerbuhler et al. (2006).

³Parmentier (2006) adds considerations about the ambiguous results of progressive taxes on wage, and therefore on unemployment, once the hours of work are variable (and set through Nash bargaining).

⁴There is no aggregate uncertainty, only idiosyncratic unemployment risk.

employment/unemployment spells.

I thus aim to encompass both the effects of tax progressivity highlighted by the labor market literature, which focuses on the effects on the unemployment rate, and those pointed out in the heterogeneous agents framework, in particular the effect on total savings.

My results show that an utilitarian welfare criterion calls for a progressive tax system: higher progressivity in fact implies lower capital, but higher total labor supply (a lower individual labor supply is counteracted by a lower unemployment rate). Moreover, tax progressivity is always preferred to unemployment benefits, which are an alternative system to provide public insurance against income drops.

These results refer to the aggregate (utilitarian) welfare. However, agents differ in many more dimensions than just the employment status (and the accumulated wealth): in order to capture this heterogeneity in a reduced form, I follow Lifschitz et al. (2016) in considering agents as characterised by (permanently) different skill or productivity levels, which refer to different (segmented) labor markets⁵. In addition I also allow agents to differ in terms of patience and preferences for leisure.

This heterogeneity in agents' types allows to show that the overall welfare evaluation is driven by different interests, as it is expected: the welfare of high skill agents in fact is negatively affected by progressivity, while it improves the conditions of the unskilled agents. Moreover, only the skilled would see their welfare to increase with unemployment insurance: since the unemployment rate they face is very low, the advantages of higher unemployment benefits are not compensated by the disadvantages of a higher unemployment rate (and a heavier tax burden).

To sum up, different trade-off are at stake: on the one hand, tax progressivity reduces individual labor supply and savings, thus reducing the total size of the economy; however, the decrease in labor supply is valuable in terms of gained leisure time⁶, and the decrease in savings implies a higher level of consumption.

On the other, tax progressivity, by exerting a downward pressure on wage (through Nash bargaining), has a decreasing effect on unemployment, thus contributing to increase total labor input.

In contrast, unemployment benefits, even if they allow constrained agents to better smooth consumption, increase unemployment rate, thus making the total cost of unemployment insurance too high.

The progressive tax system which is studied is, more precisely, a tax and transfer system⁷,

 $^{^{5}}$ The labor market conditions for people having a college degree or more are very different from those faced by people without high school diploma.

⁶The fact that labor supply can be inefficiently high, in an incomplete market framework, with respect to the complete market case, has been shown by Pijoan-Mas (2006).

 $^{^{7}}$ I adopt a widely used functional form for expressing the disposable income, used by for example Sørensen

which allows for negative taxes (i.e. transfers) to be paid to agents under a certain income threshold. Although the chosen function has to be interpreted as only an approximation to reality, it allows to study social welfare systems characterised by a "negative income tax", financed through tax revenues raised with increasing marginal tax rates.

In terms of modelling choices, I start from the workhorse model of Krusell et al. (2010), which combines the Bewley-Huggett-Aiyagari (BHA) model of incomplete markets with the search and matching model à la Mortensen and Pissarides. Lifschitz et al. (2016) build on the version of the model of Krusell et al. (2010) without aggregate uncertainty to study the role of unemployment benefits, in a context in which there is more "heterogeneity": agents differ permanently in their skill or productivity levels, which are interpreted as reflecting different educational attainments.

I extend the version of the model in Lifschitz et al. (2016) by allowing for variable hours of labor and progressive taxation; moreover, I allow for preference heterogeneity in leisure and impatience to better match some features of the data ⁸, in particular the basic facts that skilled agents earn more and accumulate more assets than the other types.

The result that a positive (and higher of the actual level characterising the US economy) level of fiscal redistribution is optimal is in line with the results of a strand of the literature: papers as Piketty and Saez (2013) as well as Chang et al. (2016) or Heathcote and Tsujiyama (2015) find that, according to a utilitarian welfare criterion, the optimal tax rates should be higher than the observed ones in the US. While Piketty and Saez (2013) adopt a different view ⁹, their conclusion is coherent with that one of Chang et al. (2016), who adopt a Ramsey approach in a context of incomplete financial markets, or Heathcote and Tsujiyama (2015) who provide a comparison of both approaches.

The result that the optimal level of unemployment insurance is very low is in line with the conclusions of the previous literature which adopts a similar setting: the steady state comparisons in Krusell et al. (2010) indicate that, according to an utilitarian criterion, the optimal level of unemployment benefit is very low¹⁰. Their results differ from what suggested by the basic Aiyagari (1994) model: if unemployment risk is exogenous, therefore not affected by the unemployment insurance level, it would be optimal to provide perfect insurance (i.e. a level equal to the wage). The reason is that, as explained by Krusell et al. (2010), self-insurance through savings is quite effective, while the distortions induced by the

^{(1999),} Bénabou (2002), Heathcote et al. (2014) and Bakış et al. (2015); the convenience of such a functional form lies also in the fact that a unique measure of progressivity, the so called Coefficient or Residual Income progression, can be defined.

⁸Consider the recent papers by Krueger et al. (2016) or the arguments in Christopher D. Carroll and White (2015).

⁹they study an optimal tax schedule in a Mirleesian approach.

 $^{^{10}}$ Earlier contributions about the optimal level of unemployment benefits in similar models are those by Pollak (2007) and Reichling (2006).

unemployment insurance (an increase in the unemployment rate) are important¹¹.

Since the resolution of the model is numerical, I provide some additional results about the sensitivity to alternative hypothesis: in particular, I show that: (i) the higher the elasticity of hours, the lower the optimal level of progressivity; (ii) the optimal level of progressivity is higher (lower) if the bargaining power of workers is higher (lower) than the elasticity of the matching function.

The paper is organised as follows: Section 2 presents the model; Section 3 discusses the calibration and quantitative results. Section 4 contains some robustness checks of the model, to assess the stability of the results depending on different calibrations. Section 5 concludes.

2 A model of frictional labor market with labor supply and progressive taxation

I adopt a general equilibrium model with segmented labor markets. Agent i is characterised by his skill or productivity level, preferences for leisure and impatience (discount factor). For each skill level, the labor market is affected by search and matching frictions: the level of frictions can vary among them, in particular the (exogenous) separation rate and the vacancy posting costs can be different; in each market, the worker and the firm set wage and hours through Nash bargaining.

Financial markets are incomplete: agents can save to (partially) self-insure against the idiosyncratic risk of becoming unemployed, but they cannot borrow.

Because of different employment histories, agents of each type i end up accumulating different levels of assets. The dimensions of heterogeneity are therefore three: the type i, the employment status and the level of wealth.

Thus the model is very close to the one developed by Lifschitz et al. (2016), who build on Krusell et al. (2010), but it differentiates for the presence of individual labor supply and the focus on progressive taxation.

Agents' instantaneous utility depends on consumption and leisure.

The tax schedule I adopt follows, among others, Sørensen (1999), Heathcote et al. (2014) and Bakış et al. (2015). It is actually a tax and transfer scheme, that allows for different levels of progressivity; the particular case of a proportional tax schedule is also embedded. The tax revenues are used to finance the transfers and unemployment benefits.

¹¹Mukoyama (2013) considers the effects of unemployment benefits in the framework developed by Krusell et al. (2010), including the transitional path to different steady states.

2.1 Labor markets

As in Lifschitz et al. (2016), there is a finite number of types of agents, according to their labor market characteristics (productivity, separation rate, vacancy cost) and preferences (value of leisure, impatience). The type of agent can be summarised referring to his productivity or skill level, that is linked to the level of education accomplished.

I distinguish three skills levels: people with less than the high school degree, with high school degree and with a college degree degree or more.

The proportion of agents of type i (ψ_i) is fixed and obviously $\Sigma_i \psi_i = 1$. Firms open vacancies of type i for agents of type i, i.e. labor markets are segmented¹².

The flows on the labor market are modelled following the workhorse model of Diamond, Mortensen and Pissarides. Firms of type *i* post vacancies to fill their job. They are randomly matched with unemployed workers of type *i* who look for a job; the matching function has the standard Cobb-Douglas form $M_i = M(v_i, u_i) = \chi v_i^{1-\eta} u_i^{\eta}$, and labor market tightness is defined as the ratio between the vacancy and the unemployment rates: $\theta_i = \frac{v_i}{u_i}$. After a match is created, the firm and worker bargain over the wage bill (they set the wage and the hours worked). The reservation wages differ across agents' types and according to their level of accumulated assets.

The steady state unemployment rate for each type is given by the equalization between the flows in and out of the stock of employment; i.e., $f_i(\theta_i)u_i = s_i(1-u_i)$, which implies that steady state unemployment is given by:

$$u_i = \frac{f_i(\theta_i)}{s_i + f_i(\theta_i)} \tag{2.1}$$

where $f_i(\theta_i) = M_i/u_i$ and $q_i(\theta_i) = M_i/v_i = f_i(\theta_i)/\theta_i$ indicate respectively the job-finding and job-filling probabilities.

2.2 The financial structure

The financial structure of the model follows Krusell et al. (2010). Consumers can hold two types of assets: physical capital k or equity, denoted as x (in the following, I drop the subscript i for notational convenience); the total amount of equity is normalised to one, while the equity price is given by the actual value of the future gain, which is given by the dividend and the price of the equity itself (if it were to be sold in the future): $p = \frac{p+d}{1+r}$. Because of the arbitrage condition, the return on equity or on physical capital must be the same; a variable "asset" can therefore be considered, given by the combination of the two types of assets, so that the portfolio combination choice can be discarded.

¹²I then abstract from the issues connected to the composition externality.

$$a = k + px \tag{2.2}$$

so that

$$a' = k(1+r) + px\frac{p+d}{p} = (1+r)(k+px)$$
(2.3)

2.3 The tax and transfer schedule

I consider a simple way to introduce non-linear labor income taxation, that has been adopted by Sørensen (1999), Bénabou (2002), Heathcote et al. (2014) and recently by Bakış et al. (2015), among others; it is a two-parameters functional form for the tax schedule, that allows for negative taxes (i.e. transfers) to low income agents. It presents some convenient properties, already identified by Jakobsson (1976), notably the fact that the Coefficient of Residual Income Progression is constant across the distribution (it does not depend on the income level).

The CRIP, defined originally by Musgrave and Thin (1948), is one of the most-used measure of progressivity¹³: it represents the elasticity of post-tax income to pre-tax income. A tax schedule is considered progressive if the CRIP is strictly less than one, regressive if it is bigger than one; in the case of a flat tax, the CRIP is equal to one. One advantage of this measure of tax progressivity is that it is also defined when the average tax rate is null. The chosen functional form for the tax schedule defines disposable income as:

$$y^d = (1-\tau)y^{1-\lambda} \tag{2.4}$$

so that total (net) taxes are given by:

$$T(y) = y - (1 - \tau)y^{1 - \lambda}$$
(2.5)

The coefficient λ governs the level of progressivity, while τ is a shift parameter that serves to balance the government budget. The CRIP relates to the marginal and average tax rates as follows:

$$CRIP(y) = \frac{\partial y^d}{\partial y} \frac{y}{y^d} = \frac{1 - T'(y)}{1 - T(y)/y}$$
(2.6)

Considering the chosen tax schedule, the expression for the CRIP is given by:

$$CRIP(y) = (1 - \lambda) \tag{2.7}$$

so that if λ is zero the tax schedule is flat, while if $0 < \lambda < 1$ the tax schedule is progres-

¹³See Røed and Strøm (2002) for a comprehensive survey.

sive¹⁴. The chosen tax schedule is actually a tax and transfer scheme: it allows for "negative" taxes if the revenue is lower than a certain threshold¹⁵. Moreover, there exists a minimum for the net tax schedule, which implies that transfers are non-monotonic in income:

$$T'(y) = 0 \leftrightarrow y = [(1 - \tau)(1 - \lambda)]^{1/\lambda} = y_{00}$$
 (2.8)

The definition of revenue of agent i, y_i is different for the employed and the unemployed agent: both receive the interests on their stock of wealth $(r * a_i)$, the employed receive the hourly wage, which varies according to his skill level, multiplied by the hours he works. The unemployed agent receives an unemployment benefit (UB), which is given by a proportion μ of the wage bill he would have received if employed ¹⁶, which is encompassed within the definition of taxable income.

To sum up, the disposable income of agent i is defined as:

$$y_{e,i}^d = (1-\tau)(w_i h_i + ra_i)^{1-\lambda}$$
(2.9)

$$y_{u,i}^d = (1-\tau)(\mu w_i h_i + ra_i)^{1-\lambda}$$
 (2.10)

2.4 The households

I turn to the maximization problem of the employed and unemployed agent of type i in the economy:

$$W_{i}(a) = max_{c_{e,i},a'_{i}}u(c_{e,i}(a), 1 - h_{i}(a)) + \beta_{i}[(1 - s_{i})W(g_{e,i}(a)) + s_{i}U_{i}(g_{u,i}(a))]$$
(2.11)

$$U_{i}(a) = max_{c_{u,i},a'_{i}}u(c_{u,i}(a), \Gamma_{i}^{u}) + \beta_{i}[f_{i}(\theta_{i})W_{i}(g_{e,i}(a)) + (1 - f_{i}(\theta_{i}))U_{i}(g_{u,i}(a))]$$
(2.12)

s.t.
$$c_{e,i} = a_i + (1-\tau)(w_i(a)h_i(a) + ra_i)^{(1-\lambda)} - a'_{e,i}$$

 $c_{u,i} = a_i + (1-\tau)(\mu w_i(a)h_i(a) + ra_i)^{(1-\lambda)} - a'_{u,i}$

where the decision rules for savings (and therefore for consumption) of the employed and

 $^{^{14}}$ It has to be understood that the "optimal" level of progressivity (which could be in theory be null or negative) is conditional on the chosen functional form of the tax and transfer schedule; this one, however, is not the optimal one, as already noted in Sørensen (1999) p. 439.

¹⁵I define the value of revenue which is associated with a zero net tax as $y_0 = (1 - \tau)^{1/\lambda}$; if the agent's revenue is lower than this threshold, i.e. if $y < y_0$, the agent pays a negative tax.

¹⁶The unemployment compensation is thus not explicit indexed on the previous wage of the agent, but since every type of agent is characterised by his own level of accumulated wealth, it is possible to define a "counter-factual wage", i.e. the wage he would have received, given his level of wealth, if employed.

unemployed are respectively¹⁷:

$$a'_{e,i} = g_{e,i}(a)$$
$$a'_{u,i} = g_{u,i}(a)$$

The employed agent chooses his level of consumption and savings considering his instantaneous utility and the continuation value: with (exogenous) probability s_i , the separation rate, he will be separated from the job, while with the complementary probability he will remain employed. The problem of the unemployed is to maximise his value function, considering that with (endogenous) probability $f_i(\theta_i)$ he will find a job and with the complementary probability he will remain unemployed.

The specific form of the instantaneous utility function that I adopt is sperable in consumption and leisure:

$$u(c_i, h_i, a_i) = \log(c_i) + \Gamma_i^z \tag{2.13}$$

where $z = \{e, u\}, \Gamma_i^e = \sigma_{l,i} \frac{(1-h_i)^{1-\nu}}{1-\nu}$ and Γ_i^u is a constant.

2.5 The firm

Firms produce using capital and labor: they post vacancies to hire workers, and they rent capital from the households. After a match is created, the firm and the worker set the wage and the hours. The firm chooses to open vacancies of type i by taking into consideration the value of a filled job, which is given by:

$$J_i(a) = \max_{k_i} \left(\frac{k_i}{z_i h_i}\right)^{\alpha} h_i(a) - (r+\delta)k_i - w_i(a)h_i(a) + \frac{1}{1+r} \left[s_i V_i + (1-s_i)J_i(a'_{e,i})\right]$$
(2.14)

The filled job produces an amount of output given by $\left(\frac{k_i}{z_i h_i}\right)^{\alpha} h_i(a)$, where z_i is the level of productivity of agent *i*. The firm has to pay the rental cost of capital and the wage bill; in addition, the firm takes into account that the job has a probability s_i of being destroyed. In this case, the firm is left with the value of opening a vacancy, indicate by V_i^{18} .

The term $\left(\frac{k_i}{z_i h_i}\right) \equiv \vec{k_i}$ represents the capital per effective labor ratio. In equilibrium, it must be the same across all matched firms, because the capital market is perfectly competitive;

¹⁷It is important to notice that the variables consumption, hours of work and wage are all function of the wealth level, i.e. in terms of notation for a generic variable x, $x_i = x_i(a)$

¹⁸Notice that v_i indicates the number of vacancies while V_i the value for the firm of opening one vacancy of type *i*.

this means that each firm must set the capital labor ratio as $\tilde{k}_i = \frac{K}{H}$, where K is aggregate capital and H represents total effective labor supply:

$$K = \Sigma_i \psi_i \int a(P_{e,i}(a) + P_{u,i}) da$$
(2.15)

$$H = \Sigma_i \psi_i \int z_i h_i(a) P_{e,i}(a) da$$
(2.16)

The interest rate is given by:

$$r = \alpha \left(\frac{k_i}{z_i h_i}\right)^{(\alpha - 1)} - \delta \tag{2.17}$$

The value of a vacancy is given by:

$$V_{i} = -\omega_{i} + \frac{1}{1+r} \left[q_{i}(\theta_{i}) \int J_{i}(a'_{u,i}) \frac{P_{u,i}(a)}{u_{i}} da + (1-q_{i}(\theta_{i}))V_{i} \right]$$
(2.18)

The value of opening a vacancy depends on the vacancy posting cost ω_i and on the probability $q_i(\theta_i)$ of filling the vacancy. It must be noted that since it is not a directed search model, the firm cannot distinguish among workers *before* filling the vacancy; as agents of type *i* are heterogeneous in terms of their asset levels (and therefore of their reservation wage), but they are all equally productive, the firm faces an uncertainty with respect to how much it will have to pay a worker (and how many hours he will work for a certain hourly wage). This is the reason that the "average" value of a filled job $\int J_i(a'_{u,i}) \frac{P_{u,i}(a)}{u_i} da$ appears in the value of a vacancy.

In equilibrium, the value of opening a vacancy has to be null; setting $V_i = 0 \ \forall i$ implies the following value for the job filling rate:

$$q_i(\theta_i) = \omega_i(1+r) \left(\int J_i(a'_{u,i}) \frac{P_{u,i}(a)}{u_i} da \right)^{-1}$$
(2.19)

The profit of the firm coming from one matched job pair of type i is given by the production less the costs of capital and labor:

$$\pi_i(a) = F(k_i, z_i h_i) - (r + \delta)k_i - w(a)h_i(a)$$
(2.20)

The dividend is paid on the profit net of the vacancy posting cost, which is given by the cost of opening a vacancy (ω_i) multiplied by the number of vacancies (v_i) :

$$d_i = \int \pi_i(a) P_{e,i}(a) da - \omega_i v_i \tag{2.21}$$

2.6 Wage bargaining

The wage and hours are fixed through Nash-bargaining between the firm and the worker: the fact that the tax on labor income is progressive has an impact on the bargaining, and therefore on the equilibrium choices, of wage and hours.

The firm and the worker maximise the Nash product of their respective evaluation of the value of the job:

$$\max_{w_i,h_i} (W_i(a) - U_i(a))^{\gamma} (J_i(a) - V_i)^{1-\gamma}$$

The FOC with respect to the wage gives:

$$\gamma \left(W_i(a) - U_i(a) \right)^{\gamma - 1} \frac{\partial W_i(a)}{\partial w_i} \left(J_i(a) \right)^{1 - \gamma} + (1 - \gamma) \left(J_i(a) \right)^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial J_i(a)}{\partial w_i} \left(W_i(a) - U_i(a) \right)^{\gamma} = 0$$
(2.22)

where the derivative of the value for a worker of a higher (hourly) wage is given by:

$$\frac{\partial W_i(a)}{\partial w_i} = \frac{\partial u(c_{e,i}, h_i)}{\partial c_{e,i}} (1 - \tau)(1 - \lambda)(w_i(a)h_i(a) + ra)^{(-\lambda)}h_i$$
(2.23)

If $\lambda = 0$ (a proportional income tax), equation (2.23) takes the form of a traditional expression: the value of an increase in wage is given by the additional (net) consumption it allows, evaluated through its marginal utility. When λ increases, ceteris paribus, the value of an increase in wage for the worker decreases.

The derivative of the value of a filled job for the firm with respect to the wage is given by:

$$\frac{\partial J_i(a)}{\partial w_i} = -h_i(a) \tag{2.24}$$

The expression becomes:

$$\frac{(W_i(a) - U_i(a))}{\left(\frac{\partial W_i(a)}{\partial w_i}\right)} \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma} = -\frac{J_i(a)}{\frac{\partial J_i(a)}{\partial w_i}}$$
(2.25)

and therefore 19 :

¹⁹By setting $\lambda = 0$ and by considering linear utility, equation (2.26) reverts to to the standard DMP form. In Appendix A, I provide some analytical insight, under the simplifying hypothesis that agents are risk neutral, about the effects that the transfer (the UB) has on wage bargaining; I also analyse the effect of λ in the wage equation.

$$(W_i(a) - U_i(a))\frac{c_{e,i}(a)[w_i(a)h_i(a) + ra]^{\lambda}}{(1 - \tau)(1 - \lambda)} = \frac{\gamma}{1 - \gamma}J_i(a)$$
(2.26)

The FOC with respect to hours gives:

$$\gamma \frac{1}{(W_i(a) - U_i(a))} \frac{\partial W_i(a)}{\partial h_i} J_i(a) + (1 - \gamma) \frac{\partial J_i(a)}{\partial h_i} = 0$$
(2.27)

The derivative of the value function with respect to hours is given by:

$$\frac{\partial W_i(a)}{\partial h_i} = \frac{\partial u(c_{e,i}, 1-h_i)}{\partial c_{e,i}} w_i (1-\tau) (1-\lambda) (w_i h_i + ra)^{-\lambda} + \frac{\partial u(c_{e,i}, 1-h_i)}{\partial h_i}$$
(2.28)

Similarly to what has been observed for equation (2.23), the effect of more progressive taxation (an increasing value for λ) is to decrease the convenience to work additional hours: when $\lambda \to 1$ (i.e., a situation involving perfect pooling of income and redistribution among agents), the only consequence of working an additional hour would be the disutility of enjoying less leisure time.

The derivative of the value for the firm of an additional hour is given by:

$$\frac{\partial J_i(a)}{\partial h_i} = \tilde{k_i}^{\alpha} - w_i \tag{2.29}$$

Substituting the previous expressions in equation (2.27), it becomes:

$$\frac{(W_i(a) - U_i(a))}{\left(\frac{\partial u(c_{e,i}, 1 - h_i)}{\partial c_{e,i}}w_i(1 - \tau)(1 - \lambda)(w_ih_i + ra)^{-\lambda} + \frac{\partial u(c_{e,i}, 1 - h_i)}{\partial h_i}\right)} = \frac{\gamma}{1 - \gamma}\frac{J_i(a)}{(w_i - \tilde{k_i}^{\alpha})} \tag{2.30}$$

Combining the FOC on hours and wage, I finally obtain the following condition:

$$(1 - h_i(a))^{-\nu} = \frac{k_i^{\alpha}}{\sigma_{l,i}} \frac{(1 - \tau)(1 - \lambda)}{c_{e,i}(a)[w_i(a)h_i(a) + ra]^{\lambda}}$$
(2.31)

Once again, by setting $\lambda = 0$ the usual hours equation appears; as it has been remarked, the parameter λ has a negative effect on hours, ceteris paribus.

2.7 Government budget constraint

The government runs a balanced budget: it collects taxes which are used to finance its transfers. In addition, the Government finances also a public insurance, in the form of unemployment benefits. In the numerical simulations, the value of the degree of progressivity (λ) is the policy parameter, while the parameter governing the level of tax revenues (τ) varies endogenously, in order to balance the government budget.

I recall the definition of tax revenues, which consist of the difference between total (pretax) income and the disposable (after-tax) income:

$$T(y) = y - y^{d} = y - (1 - \tau)y^{1 - \lambda}$$
(2.32)

The net taxes (all the tax collected minus the transfers paid by income-poor agents) have to be equal to the Government expenditures in unemployment insurance, which are given by the amount of the unemployment benefit μ , which is paid to a fraction u of the population.

Government budget constraint:

$$\Sigma_{i=1}^{3}\psi_{i}\left\{(1-u_{i})\left[\int (w_{i}h_{i}+ra)\frac{dP_{e,i}}{(1-u_{i})}-(1-\tau)\int (w_{i}h_{i}+ra)^{(1-\lambda)}\frac{dP_{e,i}}{(1-u_{i})}\right]+u_{i}\left[\int (\mu w_{i}h_{i}+ra)\frac{dP_{u,i}}{u_{i}}-(1-\tau)\int (\mu w_{i}h_{i}+ra)^{(1-\lambda)}\frac{dP_{u,i}}{u_{i}}\right]\right\}=\Sigma_{i=1}^{3}\left(\int \mu w_{i}h_{i}dP_{u,i}\right)$$
(2.33)

3 Calibration and quantitative results

The model is calibrated for a period of six weeks on the US economy. As anticipated, in line with Lifschitz et al. (2016), I consider a finite number of types of agents (i = 1, 2, 3), who differ in terms of skill/productivity levels as well as in terms of labor market characteristics (separation rate and vacancy posting costs). In addition, I also allow for heterogeneity in preferences (taste for leisure and impatience).

The proxy for skill is the educational attainment, so that agents are divided in three categories: less than high school, high school diploma and college degree or more. The parameter ψ_i indicates the weight in total population. The productivity level z_i is set in order to target the wage premium, expressed as the ratio of the median wage of the different skill types with respect to the low skill.

Agents are heterogeneous in preferences in two dimensions: their taste for leisure, represented by the parameter $\sigma_{l,i}$ differs, as well as their impatience (their discount factor β_i). The heterogeneity in discount factor allows to replicate the stylised fact that agents with higher educational attainment accumulate more assets than low skilled individuals: the target for calibration is in fact given by the median wealth premium, i.e. the ratio between the median wealth of the different skill types with respect to the low skilled agent. The total amount of capital implies a steady state equilibrium interest rate of 6.5%. The taste for leisure is set considering the different average levels of labor supply that can be observed in the data. The fact that the hours worked by agents with different education level showed a different evolution in the last decades has been highlighted by some authors, as for ex. Aguiar and Hurst (2007) or Kuhn and Lozano (2005): the conclusion is that today the average hours worked by people with no formal education are lower than those worked by college graduates. I use therefore the evidence from the ATUS data then to calibrate the taste for leisure of the different types of agents, in order to replicate the fact that the average labor supply of skilled workers is higher than that one of workers with lower levels of education²⁰.

The labor market performance for these categories are very different, as highlighted by Lifschitz et al. (2016): the unemployment risk faced by the unskilled is higher, and I follow the aforementioned paper in calibrating different separation rates.

I allow for different vacancy posting costs in order to target a similar job finding rate for all types of agents: this implies that the vacancy posting costs for skilled workers are higher than for the less skilled, in accordance with some empirical evidence as reported by Lifschitz et al. (2016).

The calibration of the parameter ω_i implies that the recruiting costs, when evaluated in terms of wage bill²¹, for the three types of workers amount respectively to 0.21%, 0.13% and 0.06%: overall therefore the recruiting costs amount to 0.41% of total labor costs. This number is too low with respect to its empirical counterpart: using the 1997 National Employer Survey, Villena-Roldan (2012) concludes that the firms spend 2.5% of their labor costs in recruiting activities.

Symbol	Interpretation	Low skill	Medium skill	High skill	Target
ψ_i	population share	0.12	0.56	0.32	data
z_i	productivity	0.50	0.77	1.26	wage premium (CPS data)
eta_{i}	discount factor	0.9929	0.9940	0.9946	wealth premium (CPS data)
$\sigma_{l,i}$	leisure preference	0.405	0.310	0.205	labor supply (ATUS data)
s_i	separation rate	0.061	0.037	0.018	$data^{22}$
ω_i	vacancy posting cost	0.05	0.05	0.05	job finding rate ²³
χ_i	matching efficiency	0.77	0.70	0.61	unemployment rate

Table 1: Type specific parameters

 $^{^{20}}$ Some recent papers, as Carroll and Young (2011) or MustredelRio (2015) estimate the preferences parameter for leisure from the data. My approach is much more stylised as I just target the average hours of work supplied by the different skill categories.

²¹For each type of agent *i*, the ratio of interest is calculated as $((\omega_i V_i)/q_i)/(\text{wage bill of i}) = ((\omega_i V_i)/q_i)/(\psi_i \int w_i(a)h_i(a)P_{e,i}(a).$

There is a set of parameters which are common to all types of agents. The parameter α in the production function, which gives the capital share, is set to 0.33; the depreciation rate is set to 0.01, which implies an investment output ratio of 0.19 in steady state; the inter-temporal risk aversion is calibrated to the standard value of 1.

I choose to calibrate the elasticity of the matching function with respect to vacancies and the bargaining power of the firm to the same value (0.5), and I fix the matching efficiency in order to target the values of the job-filling rates.

I choose as a 'benchmark economy' in terms of policy parameters a case that can be considered close to the actual state of the US economy: the parameter λ is set to 0.16²⁴, i.e. the CRIP $(1 - \lambda)$ is equal to 0.84²⁵.

The replacement rate for unemployment insurance is set to the commonly used value of 40%.

In the presence of progressive taxation on labor income, the Frisch elasticity of labor supply is not independent of the parameter that affects the CRIP²⁶. The parameter ν implies an elasticity of leisure of 2.86; together with the taste for leisure, $\sigma_{l,i}$, they imply that in the benchmark economy the 'traditional' Frisch elasticity²⁷ takes the values of {0.31,0.21,0.14} for the three types of agents respectively²⁸: low skill individuals have on average a higher elasticity, however, for every type of agent the elasticity increases as agents accumulate assets. Since labor supply elasticity is a parameter of fundamental importance, I provide in Section 4.1 a sensitivity analysis of the results with respect to the this value.

Finally, in order to assure that the value of working is always higher than that of not working (if not, there would be endogenous separations, which I discard in my modelling choices), I calibrate the value of home production Γ^u so that the condition $W_i(a) - U_i(a) > 0$ is always respected, $\forall i$.

I provide in Tables 3 and 4 the results for the targeted labor market moments for the benchmark economy. The performance of the model in steady state is good for what is

 $^{^{22}}$ From Lifschitz et al. (2016)

 $^{^{23}}$ From Lifschitz et al. (2016)

 $^{^{24}}$ Intermediate value between the estimates obtained by Heathcote et al. (2014), who consider a value of 0.15, and Bakış et al. (2015) who provide an estimate of 0.17.

²⁵The OECD reports a value of 0.86 or 0.88 for the elasticity of disposable income (for a married couple with two children, according to their wage income level), see OECD pag. 120.

²⁶See Appendix B for the derivation of the Frisch elasticity with progressive taxation.

²⁷The Frisch elasticity of agent *i*, for the adopted separable preferences in consumption and leisure, is given by $\epsilon_i = \frac{1}{\nu} \int \frac{1-\bar{h_i}(a)}{\bar{h_i}(a)}$ where $\bar{h_i}(a) = \int h_i(a) P_{e,i}(a) da$

²⁸The empirical estimates about labor supply elasticity have found very different values, but it is not uncommon to find in the literature values as low as 0.1 for the labor supply elasticity of adult men: for an example, see Chetty (2012). Peterman (2016) provides a recent survey justifying the use of different values for elasticity according to the specific model adopted. According to the author, in a case in which the Frisch elasticity refers only to the intensive margin, a reasonable range is considered to be the interval [0.2-0.9].

concerns the labor market moments (unemployment rate and job finding rate), as well as for the median wage and wealth premia. The performance is worse instead for the labor supply aspect: the model in fact implies an average labor supply which is too high for the agents with lower level of skills.

Symbol	Interpretation	Value
α	capital share of income	0.33
δ	depreciation rate	0.01
σ	risk aversion parameter	1
γ	bargaining power	0.5
η	matching elasticity	0.5
λ	level of progressivity	0.16
μ	replacement rate	0.4
ν	inverse leisure elasticity	0.35
Γ^u	home production	0.02

Table 2: Calibrated common parameters

Table 3: Equilibrium benchmark results I

Variable	Low skill	Medium skill	High skill	
u (%)	9.31	5.86	2.81	BLS data (1992-2016)
u (%)	9.41	5.79	2.89	model
job find. rate	0.60	0.60	0.60	Lifschitz et al. (2016)
job find. rate	0.59	0.60	0.60	model
median wage premium	1	1.5	2.5	CPS data (1991-2015)
median wage premium	1	1.5	2.5	model
median wealth premium	1	5	16	CPS data (1991-2015)
median wealth premium	1	6	15.6	model

3.1 Welfare effect of tax progressivity

In this section, I illustrate the first result of the paper: in an economy characterised by the tax and transfer schedule in equation (2.32, as well as by the presence of an unemployment insurance system, there exists a positive optimal level of tax progressivity, measured through the Coefficient of Residual Income Progression²⁹. The left panel of Figure 1 shows that the optimal level of progressivity is higher than the one considered as the benchmark case 30 .

²⁹I remind that the CRIP is given by $(1 - \lambda)$.

 $^{^{30}(1-\}lambda) = 0.84$, while $(1-\lambda^*) = 0.73$, where the closer to the unity the higher is the level of progressivity.

 Table 4: Equilibrium benchmark results II

Variable	Low skill	Medium skill	High skill	
Average hours per week \bar{h}_i	35.9	38.8	41.6	ATUS data (2000-2015)
$ar{h}_i/ar{h}_{HS}$	0.85	0.94	1	ATUS data (2000-2015)
$- \bar{h}_i/\bar{h}_{HS}$	0.95	0.98	1	model

The optimal level of tax progressivity is obtained adopting an utilitarian welfare criterion: total welfare is obtained by simply summing up the welfare level of each agent, expressed by his value function³¹.

Welfare =
$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \psi_i \left(\int W_i(a) P_{e,i}(a) da + \int U_i(a) P_{u,i}(a) da \right)$$
 (3.1)

This result is in contrast with the conclusions of the literature which analysed the optimal level of progressivity in a similar framework (with incomplete financial markets), but within a perfect labor market: Heathcote et al. (2014) for example find that the social planner would choose a slightly regressive tax and transfer system³²; Bakış et al. (2015) have the same result, i.e. considering just steady state comparisons, the tax and transfer schedule should be slightly regressive³³.

The right panel of Figure 1 shows that the evolution of aggregate welfare is driven by different forces: while the most unskilled profit from increased progressivity, the high skill prefer a less progressive tax and transfer system.

To evaluate the gains (or losses) of moving along the curve representing welfare in Figure 1, I calculate the equivalence between the welfare levels in terms of average consumption variations Δ . Considering that preferences are separable in consumption and leisure, I define the consumption variation as follows:

$$\ln(1+\Delta)\frac{1}{1-\beta} = \sum_{i=1}^{3}\psi_i \left(\int \tilde{W}_i \tilde{P}_{e,i} da + \int \tilde{U}_i \tilde{P}_{u,i} da\right) - \sum_{i=1}^{3}\psi_i \left(\int W_i P_{e,i} da + \int U_i P_{u,i} da\right)$$
(3.2)

where W_i and \tilde{W}_i (U_i and \tilde{U}_i) stand for the value function of the employed (unemployed) of type *i* in the original and experiment economies.

³¹For the present version, I only consider steady state comparisons and not the transition paths.

³²Their main explanation however considers factors which I do not include, specifically investment in human capital and valued public goods.

³³The authors show however that including the transition path tot he new steady state changes the conclusion: a positive level of progressivity is optimal, even if slightly lower than the actual level of the US system.



Figure 1: Welfare by skill level (left) and aggregate (right): the effects of λ

In Table 5, I report the values of Δ , where the original economy is the one with $\lambda = 0.16$ and the two experiments are the economies characterised by the optimal level of the parameter ($\lambda = \lambda^* = 0.27$) and $\lambda = 0.30$ respectively: the gains in terms of lifetime consumption are sizeable.

Table 5: Welfare gains/losses in terms of consumption

λ	Δ total
0.16	0%
0.27	1.32%
0.30	1.22%

3.1.1 The mechanisms behind the effects of tax progressivity

The effects of λ on the functioning of the economy pass through the wage and hours negotiation, and then through the unemployment rate.

In the context of a representative agent model, Sørensen (1999) summarises the impact of marginal tax rate on the unemployment rate and economic efficiency, in different frameworks characterised by labor market frictions, among which the search and matching model. However, the wage moderating effect of higher progressivity is a widely spread result, from the union model to the efficiency wage models through the directed search model, as recently summarised by Kroft et al. $(2015)^{34}$.

Following Sørensen (1999), in a search and matching framework in which wage is bargained over à la Nash, a higher progressive tax implies a lower unemployment rate: since the

 $^{^{34}}See$ Kroft et al. (2015) pag. 20 footnote 27.

increased progressivity decreases the part of the surplus going to the worker, and makes more costly for the employer to assign part of the surplus to the worker, there is a convergence of interest in lowering wage pressure. This contributes to the decrease of unemployment: if wages are lower, the firm has an interest in posting more vacancies, and unemployment decreases. Parmentier (2006) extends the analysis to a case with search and matching frictions in which hours are elastic, and fixed through Nash bargaining between the worker and the firm³⁵. Since hours and wages are bargained at the same time, the resulting equilibrium condition for hours coincides with the walrasian labor supply (that is why this scheme is referred to as 'efficient bargaining'): an increase in tax progressivity then is an incentive to decrease the supply of labor, since it is distorting the marginal revenue of an additional hour of work.

My results are in line with those of Sørensen (1999) and Parmentier $(2006)^{36}$: the numerical simulations show that as the measure of tax progressivity increases, both the negotiated wage and hours worked decrease, for each level of asset.

Both these effects can be seen playing a role in the model by looking at Figure 2. The Figure shows the resulting hours and wage functions for two experiments, one in which $\lambda = 0.16$, and the other in which $\lambda = 0.27$: for all levels of assets, the wage is lower (left panel), while hours worked decrease (right panel) when λ increases³⁷.

The unemployment rate is decreasing in λ , as it can be seen in the left panel of Figure 1. The overall effect on total labor remains positive, driven by the movement in the rate of unemployment, even if individual hours decrease.

The additional effect that lacks in the model of Sørensen (1999) and Parmentier (2006) regards capital accumulation and its effects on labor productivity. Once agents are allowed to save (and the revenues of savings are taxed), aggregate capital reacts to changes in tax progressivity: in a general equilibrium framework with risk-averse agents and precautionary savings, aggregate capital can be crowded out, if agents have access to other means of insurance, and their capital income is taxed to finance the insurance system.

The effects on aggregate welfare come from the trade off between the two main production factors: while it is true, as it is expected, that increased progressivity decreases private

³⁵Parmentier (2006) stresses that introducing variable hours implies an ambiguity in the reaction of unemployment, depending on how the utility in unemployment is considered (if instantaneous utility in unemployment is perfectly linked to net wages, through a fixed replacement ratio, or if it is instead fixed and disconnected from net wages), and on the value of some key parameters. Moreover, the effects on economic efficiency are not monotonic. In his numerical simulations, Parmentier (2006) shows that the key parameters affecting the results are the level of utility in unemployment, and labor supply elasticity: in his benchmark economy, unemployment decreases with the increase of marginal tax rate, and economic efficiency has an inverted u-shape.

 $^{^{36}}$ To have an intuition about the mechanisms, since I do not have analytical results for the complete model, I solve, in Section A of the Appendix, for the wage equation of a model with linear utility.

³⁷The feature that wage is non monotonically increasing in assets is due to the presence of valued leisure.



Figure 2: Hours (left) and wage function (right): the effects of λ

savings (total capital decreases), in a context of a frictional labor market it is also true that the unemployment rate decreases, as progressivity increases, as it is shown in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Total capital (left) and unemployment rate (right): the effects of λ



In the evaluation of welfare, the decrease in savings allows to increase consumption, up to a certain level; in addition to consumption, there is also the effect of (increased) leisure time and better job-finding probabilities.

3.2 Welfare effect of unemployment benefits (UB)

Till now I analysed the welfare effects of a progressive tax and transfer system, however since in the model the only risk is linked to the probability of becoming unemployed, it is natural to study the welfare implication of an unemployment insurance scheme, as an instrument to improve consumption smoothing. The question I ask in this section is therefore: which are the welfare effects of unemployment benefits, keeping constant the level of progressivity of the tax and transfer system?

The welfare effects of an unemployment insurance scheme have been analysed, in a framework similar t the one I adopt in this paper, by Krusell et al. (2010), Mukoyama (2013) and recently by Lifschitz et al. (2016). My framework differs from theirs because I add leisure in the utility function, and I allow for variable individual labor supply. The introduction of leisure time, however, does not change qualitatively the results, which are in line with the conclusions expressed by these papers³⁸ the welfare costs of unemployment insurance outweigh the benefits that can come from improved consumption smoothing.

The consequences in terms of aggregate welfare are that a benevolent social planner would opt for the lowest level of UB (in the graph, I only consider a range for μ between 0.2 and 0.4). Looking at different skill categories (left panel of Figure 4), it appears that in fact only high skilled individuals would benefit from this policy, while the other categories do not see their level of welfare increased: it is particularly important the effect on the middle skill, because they constitute the main group of population. The effect on high skill individuals can be explained by the fact their unemployment risk level is very low, so that a worsening of the labor market is not a major problem.





The unemployment insurance scheme, in fact, has detrimental effects on the unemployment rate, as it is standard in a model with search and matching frictions à la Mortensen-Pissarides. This effect is due to the fact that unemployment benefits increase the reservation

 $^{^{38}}$ Lifschitz et al. (2016) confirm and generalise the results of the other two papers: they analyse a model in which agents are heterogeneous in terms of skill level and labor market risk. They find that the optimal level of unemployment insurance is higher than in the case in which agents are homogeneous in terms of skills, which is basically the framework adopted in Krusell et al. (2010), Mukoyama (2013).

wage, and therefore push up wages, which in turn reduces the profitability of vacancies. However, in a framework with capital accumulation, additional insurance crowds out private savings: capital decreases, so that capital labor ratio is negatively affected³⁹. The contribution of the worker of type *i* for the firm (the term $\tilde{k}_i = K/H_i$ in equation 2.14) decreases, and this puts a downward pressure on wage. Having a lower expected income if unemployed, the agent bargains to work a (slightly) higher amount of hours. Figure 5 shows the overall effects on the hours and wage function of a change in the generosity of the unemployment insurance from $\mu = 0.4$ to $\mu = 0.2$: the dashed lines show that, with a lower replacement rate, hours worked (slightly) increase and the wage barely moves: the wage decreases for the lowest level of wealth and slightly increase for the asset rich agents, and this applies to all skill types.





The effects of the generosity of the unemployment insurance scheme on aggregate capital and unemployment rate are shown in Figure 6.

³⁹The overall effect on capital labor ratio is due to the fact that both the numerator (total capital) and the denominator (total labor) decrease.

Figure 6: Total capital (left) and unemployment rate (right): the effects of UB



3.3 General welfare comparisons: progressive tax and transfer schedule versus UB

To sum up the findings of the previous sections, I showed firstly that a progressive tax and transfer schedule (even if constrained to a specific functional form) can be welfare improving up to a certain level of progressivity (Section 3.1).

Secondly (Section 3.2), I showed that the evaluation in terms of average welfare of the unemployment insurance scheme, keeping fixed the level of progressivity, is always negative: in this case, the costs in terms of efficiency of the publicly provided insurance scheme are overwhelming.

In this Section, I allow for a combination of the previous schemes, i.e. I consider a tax schedule as in equation (2.5), where the CRIP can take values between 0 and 1, and at the same time I allow for changes in the unemployment replacement rates.

This comprehensive experiment is motivated by the fact that it allows to evaluate the relative weight of the effects of progressivity and of the UB on the evolution of welfare: I do expect to find a positive level of progressivity at the optimum, and no need for additional transfers, in the form of UB, but it is important to see the "relative" strength of welfare cost (i.e. the derivative of welfare with respect to the different policy parameters).

The variation of welfare due to changes in the transfer μ is less important than that implied by varying the parameter λ ; moreover, for low levels of progressivity, the negative welfare effects of the unemployment benefits are more pronounced.

The right panel of Figure 7 sums up the effects of the policy parameters on the unemployment rate: the marginal effect of the degree of progressivity seems to be more important than that one of the level of unemployment benefit, similarly to what has been observed for average welfare.



Figure 7: Utilitarian welfare (left) and unemployment rate (right)

The optimal combination of policies, in the space of parameters considered for this economy, would call for the lowest possible level of unemployment replacement rate ($\mu = 20\%$) and a level of progressivity $1 - \lambda^* = 0.73$. The implied tax and transfer schedule is showed in Figure 8: in the left panel it can be seen that total taxes paid by the low and middle skill employed are negative, i.e. these categories of agents receive transfers; the right panel confirms that the fiscal system is progressive: marginal tax rates are always higher than the average tax rates and these are increasing in assets.



Figure 8: Employed: total taxes (left) and marginal tax rates (right)

In terms of inequality, the level of progressivity has the strongest impact: Table 6 reproduces the wealth distribution in the model for the baseline calibration (when $\lambda = 0.16$ and $\mu = 40\%$), and for two policy alternatives: i) when $\lambda = 0.27$ (keeping μ constant at 40%); ii) when $\mu = 20\%$, keeping the level of progressivity constant at $\lambda = 0.16^{40}$.

Share % of	Baseline	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Data 41
assets by:	$(\lambda = 0.16, \mu = 0.4)$	$(\lambda = 0.27, \mu = 0.4)$	$(\lambda = 0.16, \mu = 0.2)$	
Q1	5.77	14.82	6.15	-0.90
Q2	13.22	20.21	13.99	0.80
Q3	15.17	21.69	16.04	4.4
$\mathbf{Q4}$	28.00	23.77	27.15	13.0
Q5	37.83	19.50	36.67	82.7

Table 6: The effect of policies on wealth inequali	lit	ty
--	-----	----

⁴⁰The model is not able to replicate the skewed wealth distribution we observe in the data, as it is the common case for all simplified models which do not include overlapping generations, bequest motives, wage shocks etc.

⁴¹Net worth from PSDI 2006, from Table 1 in Krueger et al. (2016).

4 Sensitivity analysis - WORK IN PROGRESS

In this section, I check the robustness of the model's predictions to alternative calibration choices. In particular, I consider the results in relation to: (i) the value of the labor supply elasticity; (ii) the consequences of calibrating the bargaining power of workers to a different value than the elasticity of the matching function with respect to unemployment.

4.1 Labor supply elasticity

In this section, I check the effects of allowing hours to vary more or less.

My conclusions are in line with Sørensen (1999): the higher the variability of hours, the lower the optimal value of progressivity (i.e. the closer the optimal CRIP is to the unity). This result comes from the fact that the higher the elasticity, the stronger is the reaction of agents in decreasing labor supply, when tax progressivity is increased. The crowding out effect of labor supply implies a lower total labor input, and therefore production, which cannot be compensated by the increased utility coming from leisure time.

I report the values for the optimal level of the parameter λ for two alternative calibrations of the model in terms of the parameter ν , which represents the inverse of Frisch elasticity of leisure: the lower the value of ν , the higher the Frisch elasticity of labor supply⁴². I remind that, being hours a (decreasing) function of assets, the elasticity takes a different value at each value of wealth; moreover, each agent of type *i* has a different hours supply function. in Table 7, I report the average value for the elasticity, computed using the average hours: $\bar{h} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \psi_i \int h_i(a) P_{e,i}(a) da$.

	Baseline	Higher elasticity
	$(\nu = 0.35)$	$(\nu = 0.30)$
Frisch elasticity of hours ⁴³	0.20	0.22
Optimal λ^*	0.27	0.25

 Table 7: Optimal level of progressivity for different levels of labor supply elasticity

⁴²To avoid confusion, I measure hours elasticity for the case in which $\lambda = 0$, so that elasticity = $\left(\frac{1-h}{h}\right)\frac{1}{\nu}$, as reported in Table 4. In Appendix B, I detail the definition of labor supply elasticity in the presence of progressive taxation.

⁴³The Frisch elasticity is computed as $\frac{1-\bar{h}}{\bar{h}}\frac{1}{\nu}$, with $\lambda = 0$

4.2 When $\gamma \neq \eta$

In calibrating the baseline economy, I made the assumption that the bargaining power of the workers (γ) is equal to the value of the elasticity of the matching function with respect to unemployment (η) .

The importance of the value assigned to the bargaining power of the workers has been widely analysed in the literature about labor market fluctuations. The choice of calibration of the two parameters has important consequences also in terms of efficiency: in a standard representative agent model, it is known that the decentralised equilibrium is efficient if the Hosios condition is respected, i.e. if $\gamma = \eta^{44}$.

As Krusell et al. (2010) state, the respect of the Hosios condition does not guarantee, however, that the equilibrium is constrained efficient, because of the externality coming from capital accumulation, as it has been stated by Dávila et al. (2012).

If the bargaining power of the worker is lower (higher) than the elasticity of the matching function, the equilibrium unemployment rate is lower (higher) than in the benchmark case of equality. The value of optimal tax progressivity goes in the direction of "correcting" the distortion: therefore, as it can be seen in Table 8, when the parameter γ is lower (higher) than η , the optimal value of λ is lower (higher).

Table 8: Optimal tax policy values when $\gamma \neq \eta$

	$\gamma = 0.4 < \eta$	Baseline $\gamma = 0.5 = \eta$	$\gamma=0.6>\eta$
Unempl. rate ($\lambda = 0.16$)	4.56%	5.79%	6.17
Optimal λ^*	0.265	0.27	0.28

5 Conclusion

This paper studies the impacts of tax progressivity as well as of unemployment insurance on macroeconomic aggregates and welfare.

I consider a framework in which agents are ex ante heterogeneous in terms of skills and preferences, and ex post heterogeneous in terms of assets, as a result of their specific sequence of employment/unemployment spells⁴⁵. In particular, I consider a framework in which agents have different levels of education, and the most skilled are the most patient as well as the agents who dislike the least hours of work. Financial markets are incomplete, so that agents

 $^{^{44}{\}rm The}$ Hosios condition is derived in a context in which there are no unemployment benefits and the interest rate tends to zero.

 $^{^{45}}$ Agents are subject only to idiosyncratic unemployment risk, there is no aggregate uncertainty.

cannot perfectly insure against unemployment risk, and the functioning of the labor market is characterised by searching frictions.

This framework allows to highlight different effects of a progressive tax and transfer schedule: on the one hand, progressivity has a beneficial effect on the unemployment rate and job-finding probability, since as it has been stressed in the labor market literature, progressivity implies a general downward pressure on wages. On the other, progressivity reduces individual labor supply and crowds out savings, as it has been stressed in the literature on consumption/savings decisions and Walrasian labor markets. Within this framework I can therefore analyse numerically the different effects of progressivity on both production factors (capital and labor).

The first set of result concerns the desirability of a positive level of progressivity, measured by the Coefficient of Residual Income Progression; the tax and transfer schedule takes a specific functional form, as in Sørensen (1999), Heathcote et al. (2014) and Bakış et al. (2015). A utilitarian welfare criterion calls for a positive level of progressivity which is higher than the actual one estimated for the US economy. The results in terms of aggregate welfare however come from the the composition of the welfare effects on the different types of agents: while the most skilled always loose form progressivity, the most unskilled always prefer higher levels of redistribution.

The second set of results in the paper shows that the losses in terms of efficiency, caused by the unemployment insurance scheme, are much more important than those implied by the previously considered progressive tax schedule. Therefore a benevolent social planner would opt for redistributing and providing insurance through a progressive tax and transfer system, without using any additional unemployment insurance scheme.

I also illustrate some robustness results: I illustrate that the higher is the labor supply elasticity, the lower is the optimal level of progressivity. Finally, I analyse the consequences of calibrating the bargaining power of workers to a different value than the elasticity of matching function: the higher the level of distortions which are present prior to Government intervention, the higher the optimal level of tax progressivity.

References

- Mark Aguiar and Erik Hurst. Measuring trends in leisure: The allocation of time over five decades. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 122(3):969–1006, 2007. doi: 10.1162/qjec. 122.3.969.
- S Rao Aiyagari. Uninsured Idiosyncratic Risk and Aggregate Saving. *The Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, 109(3):659–84, August 1994.
- Jorge Alonso-Ortiz and Richard Rogerson. Taxes, transfers and employment in an incomplete markets model. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 57(8):949–958, November 2010.
- Ozan Bakış, Barış Kaymak, and Markus Poschke. Transitional dynamics and the optimal progressivity of income redistribution. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 18(3):679 693, 2015.
- Roland Bénabou. Tax and Education Policy in a Heterogeneous-Agent Economy: What Levels of Redistribution Maximize Growth and Efficiency? *Econometrica*, 70(2):481–517, March 2002.
- Daniel R. Carroll and Eric R. Young. The long run effects of changes in tax progressivity. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 35(9):1451–1473, September 2011.
- Bo Hyun Chang, Yongsung Chang, and Sun-Bin Kim. Ex-ante Heterogeneity and Equilibrium Redistribution(Preliminary). Working papers 2016rwp-93, Yonsei University, Yonsei Economics Research Institute, October 2016.
- Raj Chetty. Bounds on Elasticities With Optimization Frictions: A Synthesis of Micro and Macro Evidence on Labor Supply. *Econometrica*, 80(3):969–1018, 05 2012.
- Kiichi Tokuoka Christopher D. Carroll, Jiri Slacalek and Matthew N. White. The Distribution of Wealth and the Marginal Propensity to Consume. Technical report, 2015.
- Arnaud Chéron. Allocation universelle vs. indemnité chômage: Évaluation quantitative dans un modèle d'appariement. *Revue économique*, 53(5):951–964, 2002.
- Juan Carlos Conesa and Dirk Krueger. On the optimal progressivity of the income tax code. Journal of Monetary Economics, 53(7):1425–1450, October 2006.
- Julio Dávila, Jay H. Hong, Per Krusell, and José-Víctor Ríos-Rull. Constrained efficiency in the neoclassical growth model with uninsurable idiosyncratic shocks. *Econometrica*, 80 (6):2431–2467, 2012.
- Jonathan Heathcote and Hitoshi Tsujiyama. Optimal income taxation: Mirrlees meets ramsey. 2015.

- Jonathan Heathcote, Kjetil Storesletten, and Giovanni L. Violante. Optimal tax progressivity: An analytical framework. Working Paper 19899, National Bureau of Economic Research, February 2014.
- B. Holmlund and A.S. Kolm. Progressive Taxation, Wage Setting, and Unemployment, Theory and Swedish Evidence. Technical report, 1995.
- Mathias Hüngerbuhler, Etienne Lehmann, Alexis Parmentier, and Bruno Van Der Linden. Optimal Redistributive Taxation in a Search Equilibrium Model. *Review of Economic Studies*, 73(3):743–767, 2006.
- Ulf Jakobsson. On the measurement of the degree of progression. Journal of Public Economics, 5(1-2):161–168, 1976.
- Kory Kroft, Kavan J. Kucko, Etienne Lehmann, and Johannes F. Schmieder. Optimal income taxation with unemployment and wage responses: A sufficient statistics approach. Working Paper 21757, National Bureau of Economic Research, November 2015.
- Dirk Krueger, Kurt Mitman, and Fabrizio Perri. Macroeconomics and household heterogeneity. Working Paper 22319, National Bureau of Economic Research, June 2016.
- Per Krusell, Toshihiko Mukoyama, and Ayşegül Şahin. Labour-market matching with precautionary savings and aggregate fluctuations. 77(4):1477–1507, 2010.
- Peter Kuhn and Fernando Lozano. The expanding workweek? understanding trends in long work hours among u.s. men, 1979-2004. Working Paper 11895, National Bureau of Economic Research, December 2005. URL http://www.nber.org/papers/w11895.
- Avihai Lifschitz, Ofer Setty, and Yaniv Yedid-Levi. Who cares about unemployment insurance? Technical report, mimeo, 2016.
- Ben Lockwood and Alan Manning. Wage setting and the tax system theory and evidence for the United Kingdom. *Journal of Public Economics*, 52(1):1–29, August 1993.
- Albert Marcet, Francesc Obiols-Homs, and Philippe Weil. Incomplete markets, labor supply and capital accumulation. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 54(8):2621–2635, November 2007.
- Toshihiko Mukoyama. Understanding the welfare effects of unemployment insurance policy in general equilibrium. *Journal of Macroeconomics*, 38, Part B(0):347 368, 2013.
- R. A. Musgrave and Tun Thin. Income tax progression, 1929-48. Journal of Political Economy, 56(6):498–514, 1948.
- José MustredelRio. Wealth and labor supply heterogeneity. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 18(3):619 634, 2015.

OECD. Taxing wages 2016.

- Alexis Parmentier. The effects of the marginal tax rate in a matching model with endogenous labor supply. Discussion papers (econ - département des sciences economiques), Université catholique de Louvain, Département des Sciences Economiques, April 2006.
- William B. Peterman. Reconciling micro and macro estimates of the frisch labor supply elasticity. *Economic Inquiry*, 54(1):100–120, 2016.
- Josep Pijoan-Mas. Precautionary Savings or Working Longer Hours? Review of Economic Dynamics, 9(2):326–352, April 2006.
- Thomas Piketty and Emmanuel Saez. Chapter 7 optimal labor income taxation. In Martin Feldstein Alan J. Auerbach, Raj Chetty and Emmanuel Saez, editors, handbook of public economics, vol. 5, volume 5 of Handbook of Public Economics, pages 391 – 474. Elsevier, 2013.
- Christopher A. Pissarides. Equilibrium Unemployment Theory, 2nd Edition, volume 1 of MIT Press Books. The MIT Press, June 2000.
- Andreas Pollak. Optimal unemployment insurance with heterogeneous agents. *European Economic Review*, 51(8):2029–2053, November 2007.
- Felix Reichling. Optimal Unemployment Insurance in Labor Market Equilibrium when Workers can Self-Insure. Mpra paper, University Library of Munich, Germany, November 2006.
- Knut Røed and Steinar Strøm. Progressive taxes and the labour market: Is the trade–off between equality and efficiency inevitable? *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 16(1):77–110, 2002.
- P.B. Sørensen. Optimal tax progressivity in imperfect labour markets. *Labour Economics*, 6(3):435–452, 1999.
- Benjamín Villena-Roldan. Aggregate Implications of Employer Search and Recruiting Selection. Working papers CEA WP 272, Universidad de Chile, Centro de Economia Aplicada, July 2012.

Appendix

A Some analytical insights: risk-neutral agents

In order to provide some analytical insight about the different effects implied by the introduction of progressive taxation, and the unemployment benefit, I simplify the model and assume that agents are risk-neutral⁴⁶. I derive the expression of the "wage equation", for the two cases, in order to provide some intuition about the effects, in a *partial equilibrium* setting, of the various parameters.

A.1 The effects of progressivity

In this section I focus on the effects of progressivity on the wage bargaining, while keeping linear utility in consumption. For simplicity, I assume that only wage income (and not interest rate income) is taxed, to remain comparable to the previous literature, in particular to Parmentier (2006).

The problem of the agent is:

$$max \sum \beta^{t} (c_{t} + \Gamma^{z})$$
(A.1)
.t. $c + a' = a(1+r) + z$

where

$$\Gamma^{z} = \begin{cases} \Gamma^{e} = \sigma_{l} \frac{(1-h)^{\nu}}{(1-\nu)}, & \text{if employed} \\ \Gamma^{u}, & \text{if unemployed} \end{cases}$$

The disposable income definition is given by:

 \mathbf{S}

$$z = \begin{cases} (1-\tau)(wh)^{1-\lambda}, & \text{if employed} \\ (1-\tau)\mu^{1-\lambda}, & \text{if unemployed} \end{cases}$$

Because of linear utility, I can write that:

1.
$$\beta = \frac{1}{1+r};$$

2. $a' = a$

and therefore without loss of generality: $c = (1 - \tau)(wh)^{1-\lambda}$ for the employed and $c = (1 - \tau)\mu^{1-\lambda}$ for the unemployed.

⁴⁶Chéron (2002), Parmentier (2006) and Krusell et al. (2010) assume risk neutral agents to obtain analytical results.

The expressions for the value functions are therefore:

$$W = (1-\tau)(wh)^{1-\lambda} + \frac{1}{1+r}\left[(1-s)W + sU\right]$$
(A.2)

$$U = (1-\tau)\mu^{1-\lambda} + \frac{1}{1+r} [f(\theta)W + (1-f(\theta))U]$$
(A.3)

$$J = (y-w)h + \frac{1}{1+r}[(1-s)J + sV]$$
(A.4)

$$V = -\omega + \frac{1}{1+r} [q(\theta)J + (1-q(\theta))V]$$
 (A.5)

where the term y refers to the (fixed) productivity of one hour of labor. In equilibrium V = 0, so that I can write:

$$\frac{J}{1+r} = \left(\frac{(y-w)h}{(r+s)}\right) \tag{A.6}$$

$$\frac{J}{1+r} = \frac{\omega}{q(\theta)} \tag{A.7}$$

Solving for the value functions I obtain:

$$W - U = \left[(1 - \tau)[(wh)^{1 - \lambda} - \mu^{1 - \lambda}] + \Gamma^u - \Gamma^e \right] \frac{(1 + r)}{(r + s + f)}$$

The sharing rule in the actual framework is given by 47 :

$$\frac{W-U}{\gamma}\frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac{J}{1-\gamma}$$
(A.8)

By substituting the expressions for the value functions, the sharing rule becomes:

$$\frac{(1-\gamma)}{(r+f+s)} \left[(1-\tau)[(wh)^{1-\lambda} - \mu^{1-\lambda}] + \Gamma^u - +\Gamma^e \right] \frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac{\gamma}{(r+s)} (y-w)h^{\lambda} + \frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)} = \frac$$

The expression for the wage bill is then given by:

$$wh = \frac{(1-\lambda)}{(1-\gamma\lambda)}\gamma(yh+\omega\theta) + \frac{(1-\gamma)}{(1-\tau)}\frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\lambda)}\left[(1-\tau)\mu^{1-\lambda} + \Gamma^u - \Gamma^e\right]$$

The wage equation takes the usual form: when $\lambda = 0$, the expression comes back to the standard form, as it can be found in Pissarides (2000).

 $^{^{47}}$ See equation (2.26) in the main text.

The hours equation is given by 48 :

$$\sigma_l (1-h)^{-\nu} = y(1-\tau)(1-\lambda)(wh)^{-\lambda}$$
(A.9)

The factor $\frac{(wh)^{\lambda}}{(1-\lambda)}$ in the wage equation can be substituted, by using the expression of the hours equation, to obtain:

$$wh = \frac{(1-\lambda)}{(1-\gamma\lambda)}\gamma(yh+\omega\theta) + \frac{(1-\gamma)}{(1-\tau)}\frac{y(1-\tau)(1-h)^{\nu}}{\sigma_l}\left[(1-\tau)\mu^{1-\lambda} + \Gamma^u - \Gamma^e\right]$$
(A.10)

Regarding the first multiplicative factor on the right side of equation (A.10):

$$\frac{\partial \frac{(1-\lambda)}{(1-\gamma\lambda)}}{\partial \lambda} = -\frac{(1-\gamma)}{(1-\gamma\lambda)^2} < 0 \quad \text{since} \quad 0 < \gamma \le 1$$
(A.11)

The effect of the level of progressivity λ is then to decrease the part of the surplus coming from the firm and appropriated by the worker.

By looking at the second term on the rhs of eq. (A.10), an opposite force intervenes; by looking at the multiplicative factor, it can be seen that:

$$\frac{y(1-\tau)(1-h)^{\nu}}{\sigma_l} > 1 \leftrightarrow h < 1 - \left(\frac{\sigma_l}{y(1-\tau)}\right)^{\frac{1}{\nu}}$$
(A.12)

moreover,

$$\frac{\partial \mu^{1-\lambda}}{\partial \lambda} = -\ln(\mu)\mu^{1-\lambda} > 0 \leftrightarrow \mu < 1 \tag{A.13}$$

i.e. under certain parameters restrictions $(h < 1 - \left(\frac{\sigma_l}{y(1-\tau)}\right)^{\frac{1}{\nu}}$ and $\mu < 1$), a higher progressivity (higher λ) puts a upward pressure on wage. Regarding the hours worked, considering the wage rate w as fixed, it can be seen that the factor λ has a negative effect on labor supply:

$$\frac{dh}{d\lambda} = -\frac{y(1-\tau)[w^{-\lambda}+(1-\lambda)\lambda w^{-\lambda-1}]}{\lambda h^{\lambda-1}(1-h)^{-\nu}+h^{\lambda}\nu(1-h)^{-\nu-1}} < 0$$

In conclusion, there is at least one force pushing down the wage as λ increases, for every level of hours⁴⁹.

 $^{^{48}}$ See equation (2.31) in the main text.

⁴⁹Equation (A.10) recalls equation (9) in Parmentier (2006); as the author puts to evidence, to know the overall effect of the marginal tax rate on the equilibrium wage it is necessary to take into consideration also the reaction of hours as well, but it is not my interest to obtain such a general equilibrium result.

A.2 The effects of UB

In this section I focus on the effects of UB in the wage bargaining. For simplicity I assume that taxes are raised through a flat income tax.

The problem of the agent is therefore as before:

$$max \sum \beta^{t} (c_{t} + \Gamma^{z})$$
s.t. $c + a' = a(1+r) + z$
(A.14)

where

$$\Gamma^{z} = \begin{cases} \Gamma^{e} = \sigma_{l} \frac{(1-h)^{\nu}}{(1-\nu)}, & \text{if employed} \\ \Gamma^{u}, & \text{if unemployed} \end{cases}$$

and

$$z = \begin{cases} wh(1-\tau), & \text{if employed} \\ \mu(1-\tau), & \text{if unemployed} \end{cases}$$

Because of linear utility, I can write that:

1.
$$\beta = \frac{1}{1+r};$$

2. $a' = a$

and therefore, without loss of generality: $c = wh(1-\tau)$ for the employed and $c = \mu(1-\tau)$ for the unemployed.

The expressions for the value functions are exactly as in previous section.

The sharing rule takes the simple form:

$$\frac{W-U}{\gamma(1-\tau)} = \frac{J}{1-\gamma} \tag{A.15}$$

which by substituting for the expression of the value functions becomes:

$$\frac{(1-\gamma)}{(r+f+s)(1-\tau)}\left[(wh-\mu)(1-\tau)+\Gamma^u-\Gamma^e\right] = \frac{\gamma}{(r+s)}(y-w)h$$

By substituting the expression for the value function of the firm, I obtain again the well known expression for the wage bill:

$$wh = \gamma(yh + \omega\theta) + \frac{(1-\gamma)}{(1-\tau)} [\mu(1-\tau) + \Gamma^u - \Gamma^e]$$
(A.16)

I report the hours equation, obtained by computing the FOC with respect to hours and by using the wage equation (see eq. 2.31 in the main text):

$$\sigma_l (1-h)^{-\nu} = y(1-\tau) \tag{A.17}$$

In this simplified version of the model, the effect of an increase of the unemployment benefit is an upward pressure on wages. The differences with respect to the complete model come from: (i) the fact that labor productivity is fixed and equal to y, while in the model with capital accumulation is endogenous and it depends on the level of aggregate capital; (ii) in the complete model, marginal utility affects the evaluation of the value of unemployment.

B Frisch elasticity with progressive taxation

I compute the Frisch elasticity of labor supply starting from the FOCs of the Lagrangian for the consumer as in a Walrasian market:

$$L = \sum \beta^{t} u(c_{t}, 1 - h_{t}) + \zeta_{t} [(1 + r_{t})a_{t} + (1 - \tau)(w_{t}h_{t} + r_{t}a_{t})^{(1 - \lambda)}]$$
(B.1)

FOC wrt consumption:

$$\zeta_t = \frac{\partial u(c, 1-h)}{\partial c_t} \tag{B.2}$$

FOC wrt hours:

$$-\frac{\partial u(c,1-h)}{\partial h_t} = \zeta_t (1-\lambda)(1-\tau)w_t (w_t h_t + r_t a_t)^{(-\lambda)}$$
(B.3)

I derive the two conditions wrt to the wage w_t to obtain the following (I discard the time subscript):

$$\begin{cases} u_{cc}\frac{\partial c}{\partial w} + u_{ch}\frac{\partial h}{\partial w} = 0\\ -u_{ch}\frac{\partial c}{\partial w} - u_{hh}\frac{\partial h}{\partial w} = \zeta(1-\lambda)(1-\tau)[(wh+ra)^{-\lambda}(1-\lambda wh(wh+ra)^{-1})] \end{cases}$$
(B.4)

I substitute the expression for $\frac{\partial c}{\partial w}$ in the second equation to obtain:

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial w} = \frac{u_h}{\left(u_{hh} - \frac{u_{ch}^2}{u_{cc}}\right)\frac{1}{w}\left(1 - \lambda \frac{wh}{(wh+ra)}\right)} \tag{B.5}$$

The elasticity of hours with respect to (pre-tax) wage is thus given by:

$$\epsilon_{h,w} = \frac{\partial h}{\partial w} \frac{w}{h} = \frac{u_h}{h * \left(u_{hh} - \frac{u_{ch}^2}{u_{cc}}\right)} \left(1 - \lambda \frac{wh}{(wh + ra)}\right)$$
(B.6)

If $\lambda = 0$ (flat tax schedule), the expression comes back to the standard expression for Frisch elasticity; with the chosen function for instantaneous utility $u(c, 1-h) = ln(c) + \sigma_l \frac{(1-h)^{(1-\nu)}}{(1-\nu)}$, the expression becomes:

$$\epsilon_{h,w} = \left(\frac{1-h}{h}\right)\frac{1}{\nu} \tag{B.7}$$

C Algorithm

In this section, I briefly describe the algorithm used to solve the model with labor supply. Note that solving the model amounts to solving a fixed functional problem, because we are not looking for single values of wage and hours, but for empirical functional forms w = w(a), h = h(a).

- 1. Use a grid of N=1000 points, for asset levels $a \in [0, 400]$; this is a log linearly spaced in order to have more points at the bottom of the distribution.
- 2. Guess a level of the interest rate, labor income tax rate, labor market tightness, and wage and hours functions w = w(a), h = h(a).
- 3. Inner loops (savings and wage function) Given the previous values, solve for the consumer problem to find the savings decision rules $a'_e = g_e(a, w)$ and $a'_u = g_u(a)$ and the value functions when employed and unemployed; compute the value of the firm implied by the Nash bargaining on wage in eq. (2.26). Compute the the wage w = w(a)implied by the value function for the firm in eq. (2.14). Compare the implied wage function to the initial guess; if the distance is bigger than the tolerance value, update the initial guess to a new value $w_{i+1} = \xi_w w_i + (1 - \xi_w) w_{implied}$, where the subscript (i+1) refers to the $(i+1)^{th}$ iteration.
- 4. First intermediate level loop (hours function) Once the saving and wage functions have been found, look for the hours function implied by the FOC on hours in eq.(2.31): this is the very same equation that in a Walrasian labor market. Iterate until convergence, updating the guess for the labor market tightness in a similar way as that of the wage function.

- 5. Second intermediate level loop (tightness) Once the wage and hours equation are obtained (given the guessed tightness, tax rate and interest rate), check the implication for the value of filling a job (and therefore for the labor market tightness, since $\theta = q^{-1}(\theta)$), using the value function of a vacancy in eq. (2.19); if the distance between the guessed and the implied tightness is bigger than the tolerance level, update the guess for the labor market tightness in a similar way as for the wage function: $\theta_{i+1} = \xi_{\theta}\theta_i + (1 \xi_{\theta})\theta_{implied}$.
- 6. Third intermediate level loop (tax rate) Using the condition that government budget constraint must be in equilibrium, i.e. eq. (??), look for the equilibrium tax rate.
- 7. Outer loop (interest rate) Once the model is solved, check the interest rate implied by the aggregation of all savings: for agent *i*, the total asset is given by $\int a_i di = \int k_i di + p \int x_i di$, where $\int k_i di = \bar{K}$ and $\int x_i di = 1$. Since aggregate savings can be computed as $\int a_i di$, compare the implied interest rate (which is a function of the implied \bar{K} , as it is shown in eq. (2.17) to the initial guess, and update it.

The algorithm to solve the model without labor supply is the same as the previous one with one difference: I keep hours fixed (in particular I set $h = \bar{h} = 1$ and therefore I switch off the loop which uses the FOC for hours. I start with guesses on interest rate, tax rate, tightness, and the wage function; after having solved for the policy and wage function, I proceed with the second and third intermediate loops before continuing to the outer loop.